**RECEIVED**  
**Oct 29 2021**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SHELDON ALONZO WATSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-002246

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's motion to suppress drugs found inside a vehicle he drove after a police stop as there was no traffic violation that occurred to justify the stop, and because there was no reasonable suspicion of criminal activity being afoot where three people were merely talking in and around the vehicle, and where the issue of people talking in such a manner has been held in U.S. v. Sprinkle<sup>2</sup> to be behavior not constituting reasonable suspicion that crimes were being committed therein.

---

<sup>2</sup> 106 F.3d 613 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant Sheldon Alonzo Watson was convicted of trafficking in methamphetamine per jury trial held during the December 2018 term of the Greenville County General Sessions Court before Judge Edward W. Miller. Appellant was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of twelve years. Assistant Public Defenders Christopher Grubbs and Teal Johnson represented appellant at trial, and Assistant Solicitor Kimberly Howard appeared on behalf of the state.

Appellant appealed his trial court conviction and sentence. This brief follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the standard of review is limited to the following:

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling. The appellate court will reverse only when there is clear error.

State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). The deference does not bar appellate courts from conducting their own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010).

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's motion to suppress drugs found inside the vehicle he drove after a police stop as there was no traffic violation that occurred to justify the stop, and because there was no reasonable suspicion of criminal activity being afoot where three people were merely talking in and around the vehicle, and where the issue of people talking in such a manner has been held in U.S. v. Sprinkle<sup>3</sup> to be behavior not constituting reasonable suspicion that crimes were being committed therein.

The facts of the case of United States v. Sprinkle, 106 F.3<sup>rd</sup> 613 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997), where the Court held that the police had no reasonable articulable suspicion to justify a stop of a vehicle, are similar to the factual scenario in the instant case. In Sprinkle, the pertinent facts follow:

- 1.) Officer Riccio noticed Victor Poindexter sitting in the driver's seat of a parked Mercury Cougar in a known drug area.
- 2.) Office Riccio knew that Poindexter had served time previously for narcotics violations, and that he had just been released recently from prison.
- 3.) Then, Officer Riccio saw Sprinkle walk over to Poindexter's vehicle and get inside.
- 4.) Officer Riccio later saw Sprinkle huddling and talking to Poindexter with their hands close.
- 5.) Officer Riccio became suspicious via his perception that Sprinkle was passing something or about to pass something.
- 6.) Officer Riccio walked by the vehicle the two were in and saw nothing incriminating.
- 7.) Nonetheless, Officer Riccio stopped Poindexter's vehicle after he drove off and searched it.
- 8.) A weapon belonging to Sprinkle was found.

---

<sup>3</sup> 106 F.3d 613 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997).

The Sprinkle Court held that under the totality of the circumstances, no suspicion of illegal activity could be assigned to the officer's observations regardless of the high crime area, and found that stop to be unconstitutional. Note that there were intervening actions by Sprinkle subsequent to the stop that led to his convictions in that case to be upheld. In the instant case, there were similar circumstances where an officer, who like the officer in Sprinkle, became suspicious based on a perception that two or more people talking inside or near a vehicle in a high crime area automatically raised a suspicion that criminal activity was afoot.

In the case at bar, as in Sprinkle, men were merely talking in and around a vehicle, and the officer here in this case became suspicious that a drug transaction was occurring in the same way that Officer Riccio became suspicious that a drug transaction was in the making in the Sprinkle case; but clearly, neither scenario could reasonably justify suspicion that a crime or crimes abounded.

Prior to trial in the case at bar, defense counsel moved to suppress the drugs found inside the vehicle petitioner drove in effect on the ground that the search and seizure that occurred at 8:30 pm on April 24, 2017, was the result of a traffic stop that violated the Fourth Amendment. R. 28, lines 20-25. An in-camera hearing followed and Officer Corey Chadwick described the events leading up to the stop as follows:

- 1.) Officer Chadwick stated that on April 24, 2017, he was patrolling the Fairview Road and Highway 418 areas of Greenville County, and specifically the Sphinx gas station at that location due to the fact that "a lot of criminal activity" occurred at that gas station. R. 30, l. 1- 15.
- 2.) Officer Chadwick stated that at that time he saw a car sitting in the back (not by a pump) and in the open (middle) of the Sphinx gas station where employees park. R. 30, l. 16-19; R. 44, l. 4-12.
- 3.) Officer Chadwick explained that he turned his headlights on the vehicle and observed a black male driver (appellant) and a

white male passenger, and a white male leaning over into the passenger's side window. R. 30, l. 20-p. 31, l. 1.

- 4.) Chadwick added that the male leaning over into the window then walked away and the driver of the vehicle in question pulled off and started driving. R. 31, l. 1-7.
- 5.) Officer Chadwick stated that he believed that there was a narcotics transaction that had been in progress and he believed that narcotics were in the vehicle. R. 31, l. 12-21.
- 6.) Chadwick stated that he followed the vehicle and noticed that the car "didn't have a legitimate tag (which he couldn't read) on there... [because] it had one of the paper, temporary tags... and based on the activity witnessed, he decided to conduct a traffic stop on the vehicle." R. 31, l. 18- p. 32, l. 6)
- 7.) Chadwick stated that "there was no way to tell the validity of the temporary tag, [or] if the car had been purchased in the past forty-five days or not." R. 35, l. 2-6.
- 8.) Chadwick stated that he asked the driver (appellant) for his driver's license and proof of insurance and registration and was told that he (appellant) was a mechanic and that he (appellant) was working on the car, which belonged to Jonathan Simmons. The passenger had a valid identification. R. 32, l. 7- p. 35, l. 6.
- 9.) Chadwick stated that he asked for consent to search and received consent to search and then found what appeared to be a methamphetamine pipe and methamphetamine in the bottom of a coffee cup located in the console. R. 35, l. 7- p. 36, l. 7.
- 10.) Chadwick stated that the driver and passenger pointed a finger at each other when he asked to whom the methamphetamine belonged so he arrested both the driver and the passenger. R. 36, l. 8- p. 37, l. 21.
- 11.) Chadwick admitted that it was dark outside and that he was a pretty good distance away from the car and that he neither saw anybody take any package out of the vehicle nor put a package in a vehicle nor did he see anything in the hands of the one who walked away. R. 39, l. 2-25.
- 12.) Chadwick stated that he just had a "hunch" that there was something going on. R. 40, l. 1-2.
- 13.) Chadwick admitted that the driver committed no traffic violations and that he was "driving very cautious... exact speed

limit, no faster, not under, very straight, [and] used turn signals,” but that he initiated the traffic stop nonetheless based solely on the view of the paper tag. R. 41, l. 16-23

14.) Chadwick said it was everything, i.e. his suspicion and the paper tag that led to his decision to stop the car. R. 43, l. 12-18.

Appellant testified at trial and explained that he was test driving his cousin’s vehicle to check for transmission problems before he started working on the repairs on it and denied ownership of anything in his cousin’s vehicle. R. 109, l. 1 – p. 119, l. 20.

The trial judge ruled that the search and stop were justified based on reasonable suspicion under the totality of the circumstances. R. 51, l. 10-17.

#### Illegal Stop For Non-Existent Traffic Offense

The Fourth Amendment requires an officer making an automobile stop to have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred or an objectively reasonable suspicion that illegal activity has occurred. Milledge v. State, 422 S.C. 366, 811 S.E.2d 796 (2018); State v. Alston, 422 S.C. 270, 811 S.E.2d 747 (2018). An objective assessment of the totality of the circumstances is the test of the officer’s gage of whether criminal activity is suspected after a traffic stop. State v. Alston, supra. Also, reasonable suspicion is more than an “inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or a hunch.” State v. Robinson 407 S.C. 169, 754 S.E.2d 862 (2014); State v. Burgess, 394 S.C. 407, 714 S.E.2d 912 (Ct. App. 2011). Here, the officer illegally pulled appellant over for having a paper tag on the vehicle he was driving. Having a paper tag on a vehicle is not a traffic violation. Although as of November 19, 2019, traceable temporary tags must be placed on newly purchased vehicles; nonetheless, previously, in 2017 when this case occurred, S.C. Code Ann. 56-3-210 (2012) allowed vehicles to have paper tags for 45 days. As a matter of fact, the officer here in this case admitted that no traffic violation occurred in this case and that appellant drove cautiously, within the speed limits, and while using turn signals properly. Hence, no traffic

violation justified the stop in this case. See the case of State v. Sisler, 2017 WL 6032659 (2020), although unreported and unpublished, where the court found no reason for the stop where an officer admitted he did not stop the vehicle for a traffic violation, but because the driver missed a turn he advised her to take, and thus that stop was deemed illegal. Likewise the stop in this case was illegal.

#### No Evidence of Reasonable Suspicion of Criminal Activity

Clearly, the initial traffic stop in the case at bar was illegal. Now, the question becomes whether the officer's hunch in the present case supported an objective basis of reasonable articulable suspicion under the circumstances that criminality was afoot in order to justify the stop. For example, this officer made the huge leap from witnessing a conversation between one black male driver and one white male passenger in the same car and a white male leaning in talking to the two occupants inside the vehicle as suspicion that a drug deal was in the making or that drugs were seen being exchanged at the time.

In this case, the officer's "hunch" from his gas station observation of men talking in and around a vehicle, and the car paper tag did not satisfy any reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop in this case because under the objective assessment test of criminal activity, no evidence supported such a conclusion. What was left was the fact that three men were talking inside and around a vehicle, which is not a crime, and even the trial just stated that the evidence of reasonable suspicion was "very slim." R. 51, lines 10-11.

Again, reasonable suspicion is more than an inchoate or unparticularized hunch, but rather it is an objective basis that would lead to a suspicion of criminal activity under the probability of the circumstances. State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 6219 S.E. 2d 679 (2006); State v. Butler, 343 S.C. 198, 539 S.E.2d 414 (2010). See also State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 747 S.E. 2d 453 (2013), citing to Whren v. United States, *supra*. Reasonable suspicion requires "a particularized and objective

basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981); State v. Lesley, 486 S.E.2d 276 (Ct. App. 1997). A court must consider “the totality of the circumstances – the whole picture” when determining whether reasonable suspicion exists. Cortez, 449 U.S. at 417; See also State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 546, 544 S.E.2d 290, 295 (Ct. App. 2001) (“reasonable suspicion requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity. . . the whole picture must be considered.”). See also State v. Corley, 383 S.C. 232, 679 S.E.2d 187 (Ct. App 2009), aff’d as modified, State v. Corley, 392 S.C. 125, 708 S.E.2d 217 (S.C. 2011). Reasonable suspicion “entails. . . something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or ‘hunch,’ but less than the level of suspicion required for probable cause” Butler, 343 S.C. at 202, 539 S.E.2d at 416.

In the case at bar, this “hunch” based on what happened at the gas station involving a conversation between three people in and around a vehicle did not amount to or constitute reasonable suspicion or probable cause. Note the holding in State v. Butler, 388 S.C. 101, 539 S.E.2d 414 (2010), where the Court held that the mere presence of a temporary tag on the back of a car without more would not provide a reasonable suspicion that the driver was involved in criminal activity. Another car paper tag case was Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 448 S.E.2d 560 (1994). In Sikes, a vehicle was stopped because the paper tags aroused suspicion of it being stolen, but after receiving the requested identification information from the driver and the passenger; nonetheless, the passenger was taken from the car while police ran a warrant check on him. The Court reversed in Sikes and held that the officer’s further detention of the passenger while going “fishing” for evidence of a crime, i.e., looking for warrants, was unlawful because the scope and duration of the initial seizure must be  **tied to and justified by the circumstances which rendered**