RECEIVED

Nov 18 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002246

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SHELDON ALONZO WATSON,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street
Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864)-467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the judge err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drugs found in Appellant's car when Appellant committed a traffic violation by having an illegible paper tag on his car? And even if Appellant had not committed a traffic violation, did Deputy Chadwick have a reasonable suspicion that Appellant was engaged in criminal activity when Chadwick witnessed Appellant appear to engage in a drug transaction in a dark parking lot in a high crime area when Appellant attempted to evade Chadwick as soon as Chadwick arrived?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2018, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for one count of trafficking in methamphetamine greater than twenty-eight grams but less than one hundred grams. On December 11-12, 2018, a jury trial was held in the Greenville County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Edward W. Miller presiding. Appellant was represented by Christopher Grubbs, Esq. and Teal Johnson, Esquire of the Greenville County Public Defender's Office. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Kimberly Howard of the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant as charged. The trial judge sentenced Appellant to twelve years' imprisonment. Counsel for Appellant initially filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967) and moved to be relieved as counsel. By order dated September 22, 2021, this Court denied appellate counsel's motion to be relieved and requested both parties submit a brief regarding whether the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence found during a traffic stop of his vehicle.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At approximately 9:00 PM on April 24, 2017, Deputy Corey Chadwick of the Greenville County Sheriff's Office was patrolling the southern end of Greenville County when he stopped at the Spinx gas station on Fairview Road. (R. 29-30, 33, 74). Chadwick drove to the parking lot at the rear of the gas station where he noticed a car sitting in an open area behind the gas station. (R. 30). Chadwick observed a black male in the driver's seat, a white male passenger, and a white male leaning inside the passenger's seat window. (R. 30-31). Chadwick testified that as soon as his headlights hit the car, the male leaning through the passenger's window began to walk in the opposite direction, while the car drove off. (R. 31). Chadwick thought he may have witnessed a hand to hand narcotics transaction and decided to follow the vehicle. (R. 31). As Chadwick followed the vehicle, he noted the vehicle had a temporary paper tag that was illegible. (R. 31). Chadwick activated his blue lights and initiated a traffic stop. (R. 32).

Chadwick spoke with the driver and identified him as Appellant. (R. 30, 32). Appellant told Chadwick he did not have a driver's license or any insurance on the vehicle. (R. 33). Appellant claimed the vehicle belonged to his cousin, Jonathan Simmons, and that information was confirmed by Chadwick. (R. 33). Appellant claimed he was test driving the vehicle to determine what was wrong with it and also dropping off a friend. (R. 34). Chadwick asked for Appellant's consent to search the vehicle and Appellant consented to the search. (R. 35). Chadwick located a glass pipe in the center console along with small, crystal, rock-like flakes on the passenger side floorboard. Based on his training and experience, Chadwick suspected the substance may be methamphetamine. (R. 35-36). Chadwick also located a plastic bag inside a coffee cup that contained a similar crystal-like substance inside. (R. 36). A field test was performed on the substance which rendered a positive result for methamphetamine. (R. 36-37).

Chadwick placed both Appellant and his passenger under arrest and read them their Miranda rights. Both men waived their Miranda rights and spoke with Chadwick. Each man denied knowledge of the narcotics and blamed the presence of the drugs on the other. (R. 37).

Chadwick placed the suspected drugs into evidence at the Sheriff's Department. (R. 80-81). The substance was analyzed and weighed by forensic chemist, Kristen McCall. McCall determined the bag found in Appellant's car contained 55.65 grams of methamphetamine. (R. 104). At the conclusion of trial, Appellant was convicted as charged.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A trial court’s Fourth Amendment suppression ruling must be affirmed if supported by any evidence, and an appellate court may reverse only when there is clear error.” State v. Taylor, 401 S.C. 104, 108, 736 S.E.2d 663, 665 (2013). “Our review in Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases is limited to determining whether any evidence supports the trial court’s finding.” State v. Willard, 374 S.C. 129, 133, 647 S.E.2d 252, 255 (Ct. App. 2007). “This Court will not reverse a trial court’s findings of fact merely because we would have reached a different conclusion.” State v. Pope, 410 S.C. 214, 222, 763 S.E.2d 814, 818 (Ct. App 2014).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drugs found in Appellant's car because Appellant committed a traffic violation by having an illegible paper tag on his car and because Deputy Chadwick had a reasonable suspicion that Appellant was engaged in criminal activity after Chadwick witnessed Appellant appear to engage in a drug transaction in a dark parking lot in a high crime area and Appellant attempted to evade Chadwick as soon as Chadwick arrived.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drugs found in his car because he did not commit a traffic violation and Deputy Chadwick lacked any reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to justify a traffic stop. Appellant does not challenge whether he gave Chadwick consent to search the vehicle. Appellant's argument fails for two reasons. First, Appellant committed a traffic violation by driving a car with an illegible paper tag. Second, Chadwick had a reasonable suspicion that Appellant was involved in criminal activity based on the totality of the circumstances he observed. Specifically, Chadwick observed what he believed to be a drug transaction in a dark parking lot behind a gas station where only employees and large trucks parked that was also a high crime area and as soon as Chadwick arrived, Appellant and the unknown male leaning inside the passenger door immediately fled. When taken together, the aforementioned circumstances provided an experienced officer a reasonable suspicion that Appellant was involved in criminal activity.

“A police officer may stop and briefly detain and question a person for investigative purposes, without treading upon his Fourth Amendment rights, when the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts, short of probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity.” State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 546, 544 S.E.2d 290, 295 (Ct. App. 2001). “The term ‘reasonable suspicion’ requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” Id. A reasonable suspicion is a “commonsense, nontechnical [conception] that [deals] with ‘the factual and practical

considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians act.” Ornelas v. United States., 517, U.S. 690, 695 (1996) (quoting Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 231 (1983)). “In determining whether reasonable suspicion exists, the court must consider the totality of the circumstances.” Willard, 374 S.C. at 134, 647 S.E.2d at 255.

“Courts are not remiss in crediting the practical experience of officers who observe on a daily basis what transpires on the street.” United States v. Lender, 985 F.2d 151, 154 (4th Cir. 1993). “While the defendant’s mere presence in a high crime area is not by itself enough to raise reasonable suspicion, an area’s propensity toward criminal activity is something that an officer may consider.” Id. “As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to determine that a traffic violation has occurred. The police, however, may also stop and briefly detain a vehicle if they have a reasonable suspicion that the occupants are involved in criminal activity.” State v. Butler, 343 S.C. 198, 201, 539 S.E.2d 414, 416 (Ct. App. 2000).

Appellant asserts the traffic stop initiated by Chadwick was improper because he did not commit a traffic violation and because Chadwick lacked reasonable suspicion that Appellant was involved in criminal activity. Appellant’s argument fails on both counts. First, Appellant committed a traffic violation. Pursuant to the relevant statute in effect on the date Appellant was stopped, any owner of a newly purchased vehicle or a foreign vehicle being moved into the state had a 45 day grace period to register their vehicle. In order to operate such a vehicle on the roads of our state, a motorist must either transfer a license plate from another vehicle, purchase a new license plate, or obtain a temporary plate. S.C. Code § 56-3-210 (A) (2016). If a motorist has a temporary plate, the plate must contain various information including “the expiration date of the period within which the purchaser must register the vehicle pursuant to subsection (E) of this

section.” S.C. Code § 56-3-210 (C) (2016). Furthermore, the expiration date on the plate “must be clearly legible from a distance of at least twenty-five feet, written using a permanent black marker with at least a one quarter inch wide tip, and must contain a numerical month, day, and year.” S.C. Code § 56-3-210 (C) (2016). A motorist who doesn’t comply with the provisions of S.C. Code § 56-3-210 (A) or S.C. Code § 56-3-210 (C) is guilty of a misdemeanor offense. S.C. Code § 56-3-210 (E) (2016).

Here, Appellant’s paper tag was illegible. (R. 31-32). Therefore the tag violated the provisions of S.C. Code § 56-3-210 (C). While Appellant correctly asserts that “having a paper tag on a vehicle is not a traffic violation”, having an illegible paper tag, as Appellant did here, is indeed a traffic violation. (Brief of Appellant 7). Therefore, even if Chadwick did not have a reasonable suspicion that Appellant was involved in criminal activity, he nonetheless properly initiated a traffic stop of Appellant’s vehicle because of Appellant’s illegible paper tag.

Even if Appellant’s illegible paper tag had not furnished Chadwick with a reason to stop Appellant’s vehicle, Chadwick properly initiated a stop based on his reasonable suspicion that Appellant was engaged in criminal activity. Here, Chadwick summarized his reasons for stopping Appellant’s vehicle in the following exchange with the solicitor:

Ms. Howard: Deputy Chadwick, one other thing – question that [counsel for Appellant] asked you was if the traffic stop was based solely on the paper tag. Is that the case or was it from everything you had---

Deputy Chadwick: It was—it was the collection of everything. It was the – it was the suspicion of what I had observed along with the paper tag.

Ms. Howard: And, again, you said as soon as your—as soon as your lights—you testified, and I’m just clarifying, as soon as your lights hit them and y’all first saw each other that everyone left, scattered---

Deputy Chadwick: It was immediate, yes.

Ms. Howard: Immediate? Okay. And then tell me about this hunch. When he keeps saying hunch, I think—I'm just curious what—would you describe what you mean by hunch? Is it just a one-time gut feeling? Is it training and experience? Explain that a little bit to us.

Deputy Chadwick: It was a collection of a lot of things. It was their behavior as soon as they saw me, the backlit or the non-backlit lot, the dark lot, the fact that the vehicle was back there with a third party leaning over where his hands couldn't be seen, the vehicle wasn't near any fuel pump, the air pumps for tires were around the front. The only things usually around the back is where employees park and where like big rig truckers, there's an area back there where they can park. So I found it, you know, suspicious that this vehicle's back there, this third party's there, that and all the, you know, all the previous cases that I've made and beat partners have made down there getting out with suspicious vehicles and people and finding narcotics and stolen property in vehicles back there.

(R. 43, lines 12-25- R. 44, lines 1-18). The aforementioned exchange highlights the multiple circumstances that informed Chadwick's decision to stop Appellant's vehicle. Appellant's vehicle was parked in a dark lot behind a gas station where only employees and large trucks parked. Chadwick observed what he believed to be a narcotics transaction¹ in a high crime area where he had personally made arrests for previous narcotics transactions. (R. 31). Furthermore, the unknown male and Appellant immediately fled the scene as soon as they saw Chadwick arrive. (R. 31). These circumstances when taken in conjunction with each other, provided Chadwick with a particularized and objective basis to suspect Appellant was engaged in criminal activity. Therefore, the trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the methamphetamine found inside Appellant's car.

Appellant argues his case shares similarities with the factual scenario presented in United States v. Sprinkle, 106 F.3d 613 (4th Cir. 1997). In Sprinkle, the Fourth Circuit considered whether officers had a reasonable suspicion to stop Sprinkle's vehicle when the driver of

¹ Chadwick conceded he did not witness money or drugs changing hands because he was unable to do so due to the poor lighting conditions in the parking lot and the unknown male's hands being deep inside Appellant's vehicle. (App. 38-39).

Sprinkle's vehicle, Poindexter, was known to have a criminal record of narcotics violations, Sprinkle was seen in a high crime area, Sprinkle entered Poindexter's car and huddled together with him near the center console, Poindexter attempted to avoid detection by placing his hand over his face, and the car drove away as soon as the officers walked by. Sprinkle 106 F.3d at 617. In ruling the circumstances articulated by the officers did not rise to the level of reasonable suspicion, the Fourth Circuit noted the officers lacked information that Poindexter had resumed his criminal activity, the officers did not see a hand to hand transaction, and the alleged transaction took place in daylight hours. Sprinkle 106 F.3d at 617-618.

The facts of Appellant's case are distinguishable from Sprinkle and are more similar to the factual scenario considered by the Fourth Circuit in United States v. Lender, 985 F.2d 151 (4th Cir. 1993). In Lender, the court considered whether officers had reasonable suspicion to stop Lender when they witnessed Lender on a street corner in a high crime area with four or five men huddled around him looking down toward his palm at approximately 1:00 AM. Lender 985 F.2d at 153. When officers approached the men, the group dispersed and Lender refused to stop when asked by law enforcement. Id. As Lender moved away a gun fell from his waistband, and he was placed under arrest. Id. In ruling that officers had a reasonable suspicion to detain Lender, the Fourth Circuit considered the late hour and Lender's presence in a high crime area while engaged in what appeared to be a drug transaction. While the court noted that officers did not see a drug transaction take place, "the officers were not required in the absence of probable cause simply to 'shrug [their] shoulders and allow a crime to occur.'" Lender 985 F.2d at 154 (quoting Adams v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143, 145 (1972)). The court further noted that Lender's evasive conduct also contributed to the officer's reasonable suspicion that Lender was engaged in criminal activity. Lender 985 F.2d at 154.

Here, like in Lender, Appellant was engaged in what appeared to a trained law enforcement officer to be a drug transaction at nighttime in a high crime area. Also like Lender, when Appellant saw law enforcement, he attempted to evade Chadwick. Appellant's case can be contrasted with Sprinkle, because unlike Sprinkle, Appellant's encounter with Chadwick took place at night in a poorly lit parking lot. Furthermore, Appellant immediately attempted to evade Chadwick whereas Sprinkle remained in Poindexter's car until the officers had passed on foot. Sprinkle 106 F.3d at 617. Thus, while all three factual scenarios share the same circumstances of suspects appearing to engage in drug transactions in high crime areas, Appellant's case is more similar to the scenario in Lender because of the hour which the transaction occurred and the immediate evasive behavior by Appellant. The trial judge did not err in concluding Chadwick had a reasonable suspicion that Appellant was engaged in criminal activity. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.